
CITY OF FRANKLIN 
PLAN COMMISSION MEETING* 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD, FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

AGENDA 
THURSDAY, JUNE 17, 2021, 7:00 P.M. 

               
The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will be live streaming the Plan Commission 

meeting so that the public will be able to watch and listen to the meeting.  
https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov.   

 
 

A.   Call to Order and Roll Call 
 

B.  Approval of Minutes 
 

 1. Approval of regular meeting of June 3, 2021. 
 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters (action may be taken on all matters following  
                                                                      the respective Public Hearing thereon) 
 
D. Business Matters (no Public Hearing is required upon the following matters; action may be   
                                           taken on all matters) 
 

1. TARGET STORE T-2388 FRANKLIN PLACEMENT OF SHIPPING 
CONTAINERS IN STORE PARKING LOT.  Temporary Use application by Target 
Corporation (Store T-2388 Franklin) to allow for the placement of 40-50 shipping 
containers on the west side of the Target Store parking lot, for storage use during the 
remodel of the Target store, from July 12, 2021 to November 5, 2021, property located at 
7800 South Lovers Lane Road, zoned CC City Civic Center District; Tax Key No. 794-
9999-004. 

 
2. PROPOSAL TO CHANGE THE PUBLIC NOTICES TO PROPERTY OWNERS 

AND NOTICES TO THE MEDIA WITH REGARD TO ZONING AND LAND 
DIVISION AND LAND USE MATTERS APPLICATIONS ITEMS PURSUANT 
TO THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, METHODS AND 
FORMATS PROCESS, TO IMPLEMENT A MORE ACCESSIBLE AND 
EFFICIENT PROCESS. 

 
E. Adjournment 
 
*Supporting documentation and details of these agenda items are available at City hall during normal business hours. 
 
**Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather information about an agenda item over which they have 
decision-making responsibility.  This may constitute a meeting of the Common Council per State ex rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, even though the 
Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 
 
[Note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional 
information, contact the City Clerk’s office at (414) 425-7500.] 



Franklin Plan Commission Agenda 
6/17/21 
Page 2 
 

REMINDERS: 
Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: July 8, 2021  



Page 1                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                               June 3, 2021  

 City of Franklin unapproved  
 Plan Commission Meeting                            

June 3, 2021 
Minutes 

A. Call to Order and Roll Call Mayor Steve Olson called the June 3, 2021, regular Plan 
Commission meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, 
Franklin, Wisconsin.  
 
Present were Mayor Steve Olson, Commissioners Patrick Leon 
and Adam Burckhardt and City Engineer Glen Morrow and 
Alderman Mark Dandrea. Excused was Commissioner Patricia 
Hogan. Participating remotely was Commissioner Kevin 
Haley. Also present were City Attorney Jesse Wesolowski, 
Planning Manager Heath Eddy and Associate Planner Marion 
Ecks.  

B. Approval of Minutes 
 

 

1. Regular Meeting of May 20, 2021 
 
 
 
 
C. Public Hearing Business Matters 
 
1.     CROATIAN PARK 
CONVERSION OF A GRASS 
SOCCER FIELD INTO AN 
ARTIFICIAL TURF SOCCER 
FIELD AND INSTALLATION OF 
ADDITIONAL LIGHTING. Natural 
Resource Features Special Exception and 
Site Plan Amendment applications by 
Croatian Eagles Soccer Club, Federation 
of Croatian Societies, Inc., property 
owner, for the purpose of allowing for 
grading of approximately 0.05 acres of 
wetland buffer and 0.19 acres of wetland 
setback, and installation of stormwater 
facilities (west of the turf field), for 
conversion of the existing grass soccer 
field into a 230 foot by 355 foot artificial 
turf soccer field, and installation of 
additional lighting, upon properties 
located at 9100 South 76th Street and 
9220 South 76th Street, such properties 
zoned P-1 Park District and C-1 
Conservancy District; Tax Key Nos. 
884-9995-000 and 884-9996-000.  
 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Burckhardt 
seconded approval of the May 20, 2021 regular meeting 
minutes. On voice vote, all voted 'aye'. Motion carried (5-0-1). 
 
 
 
 
Associate Planner Marion Ecks presented the request by 
Croatian Eagles Soccer Club, Federation of Croatian 
Societies, Inc., property owner, for the purpose of allowing 
for grading of approximately 0.05 acres of wetland buffer and 
0.19 acres of wetland setback, and installation of stormwater 
facilities (west of the turf field), for conversion of the existing 
grass soccer field into a 230 foot by 355 foot artificial turf 
soccer field, and installation of additional lighting, upon 
properties located at 9100 South 76th Street and 9220 South 
76th Street, such properties zoned P-1 Park District and C-1 
Conservancy District; Tax Key Nos. 884-9995-000 and 884-
9996-000 
 
The Official Notice of Public hearing was read in to the 
record by Planning Manager Heath Eddy  and the Public 
Hearing was opened at 7:08 p.m. and closed at 7:13 p.m.. 
 
Natural Resource Special Exception 
Alderman Dandrea moved and Commissioner Leon seconded a 
motion to recommend approval of the Croatian Eagles Soccer 
Club Natural Resource Features Special Exception pursuant to 
the Standards, Findings and Decision recommended by the  
Plan Commission and Common Council consideration of the  
Environmental Commission recommendations. On voice vote, 
all voted ‘aye’. Motion carried (5-0-1). 



Page 2                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                               June 3, 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D. Business Matters 
 
1.     LOT DIVISION TO 
ACCOMMODATE THE CITY OF 
FRANKLIN INDUSTRIAL PARK 
MUNICIPAL SANITARY LIFT 
STATION REPLACEMENT. Certified 
Survey Map application in conjunction 
with a Land Division Variance 
application, by the City of Franklin, 
applicant (Zeta Company, LLP, property 
owner), to create a new lot for a new 
sanitary lift station in the City of 
Franklin Industrial Park [division of the 
11 acre property located at 5801 West 
Franklin Drive into 2 lots: lot 1 with an 
area of 10.41 acres for the existing 
manufacturing facility owned by Zeta 
Company, LLP and lot 2, with 0.47 
acres, for the new sanitary lift station to 
be owned by the City of Franklin] (the 
Site Plan for this sanitary lift station, 
including: lift station building, below-
grade wet well, asphalt driveway, 
landscaping and site lighting, was 
approved by the Plan Commission in 
February, per Resolution No. 2021-003), 
and this Certified Survey Map requires a 
land division variance to allow for the 
creation of the lift station lot with an area 
of 0.47 acres, while the minimum lot 
area in Planned Development District 
No. 7 (Franklin Industrial Park) is 1 acre, 
per Ordinance No. 85-864, property 
located at 5801 West Franklin Drive, 
zoned Planned Development District No. 
7 (Franklin Industrial Park); Tax Key 
No. 931-0006-001. 
 
 
 
 
  

Site Plan Amendment 
Commissioner Leon moved and Alderman Dandrea seconded 
a motion to adopt a Resolution amending the Site Plan for  
properties located at 9100 South 76th Street and 9220 South  
76th Street to allow for conversion of the existing grass  
soccer field in Croatian Park into an artificial turf soccer  
field, and installation of  stormwater facilities (Tax Key Nos.  
884-9995-000 and 884-9996-000) On voice vote, all voted ‘ 
aye’. Motion carried (5-0-1). 
 
 
Planning Manager Heath Eddy presented the request by the 
City of Franklin, applicant (Zeta Company, LLP, property 
owner), to create a new lot for a new sanitary lift station in 
the City of Franklin Industrial Park [division of the 11 acre 
property located at 5801 West Franklin Drive into 2 lots: lot 1 
with an area of 10.41 acres for the existing 
manufacturing facility owned by Zeta Company, LLP and lot 
2, with 0.47 acres, for the new sanitary lift station to be 
owned by the City of Franklin] (the Site Plan for this sanitary 
lift station, including: lift station building, below-grade wet 
well, asphalt driveway, landscaping and site lighting, was 
approved by the Plan Commission in February, per 
Resolution No. 2021-003), and this Certified Survey Map 
requires a land division variance to allow for the creation of 
the lift station lot with an area of 0.47 acres, while the 
minimum lot area in Planned Development District No. 7 
(Franklin Industrial Park) is 1 acre, per Ordinance No. 85-
864, property located at 5801 West Franklin Drive, zoned 
Planned Development District No. 7 (Franklin Industrial 
Park); Tax Key No. 931-0006-001. 
 
Land Division Variance 
Alderman Dandrea moved and Commissioner Leon seconded 
a motion to adopt a Resolution conditionally approving a 
Land Division Variance for a 2 Lot Certified Survey Map, 
being a redivision of Lot 1 and 2 in block 6 of  Franklin 
Industrial Park located in the Northwest 1/4 of the Southwest 
1/4, and Lot 3 in block 6 of Franklin Industrial Park Addition 
No. 1 located in the Southwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of 
Section 26, Township 6 North, Range 21 East, in the City of 
Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, excepting therefrom 
that part conveyed to the City of Franklin by Quit Claim 
Deed recorded as document No.6934853 (at 5801 West 
Franklin Drive). On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’. Motion 
carried (5-0-1). 
 
Certified Survey Map 
Commissioner Leon moved and Alderman Dandrea seconded 
a motion to recommend approval of a Resolution  
conditionally approving a 2 Lot Certified Survey Map, being  
a redivision of Lot 1 and 2 in block 6 of Franklin Industrial 



Page 3                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                               June 3, 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.     GARAGE ENLARGEMENT 
ENCROACHING INTO SIDE YARD 
SETBACK IN A PRIME 
AGRICULTURAL ZONING 
DISTRICT. Site Plan Amendment 
application by Brent A. Maynard, to 
extend the back of an existing garage by 
16 feet, encroaching into the property’s 
side setback [the encroachment is 
permitted pursuant to a variance from 
Table 15-3.0315 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance granted by the 
Board of Zoning & Building Appeals at 
its May 19, 2021 meeting] [a site plan 
amendment is required because this 
property is located in the Prime 
Agricultural zoning district (A-2) and the 
resulting garage floor area (1,380 square 
feet) exceeds the maximum size for 
residential accessory structures (900 
square feet)], upon property zoned A-2 
Prime Agricultural District, located at 
10953 South 92nd Street; Tax Key No. 
986-9999-000.. 
 
 
Adjournment 
 

Park located in the Northwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4, and  
lot 3 in block 6 of Franklin Industrial Park Addition No. 1  
located in the Southwest 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section  
26, Township 6 North, Range 21 East, in the City of Franklin, 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, excepting therefrom that part  
conveyed to the City of Franklin by Quit Claim Deed  
recorded as document No.6934853 (at 5801 West Franklin  
Drive). On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’. Motion carried (5-0-1). 
 
Planning Manager Heath Eddy presented the request by 
Brent A. Maynard, to extend the back of an existing garage 
by 16 feet, encroaching into the property’s side setback [the 
encroachment is permitted pursuant to a variance from Table 
15-3.0315 of the Unified Development Ordinance granted by 
the Board of Zoning & Building Appeals at its May 19, 2021 
meeting] [a site plan amendment is required because this 
property is located in the Prime Agricultural zoning district 
(A-2) and the resulting garage floor area (1,380 square feet) 
exceeds the maximum size for residential accessory structures 
(900 square feet)], upon property zoned A-2 Prime 
Agricultural District, located at 10953 South 92nd Street; Tax 
Key No. 986-9999-000. 
 
Commissioner Burckhardt moved and Commissioner Leon  
seconded a motion to adopt a Resolution amending the Site  
Plan for property located at 10953 South 92nd Street to allow  
for the enlargement of an existing garage in the prime  
agricultural zoning district (Tax Key No. 986-9999-000). On  
voice vote, all voted ‘aye’. Motion carried (5-0-1). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commissioner Leon moved and Alderman Dandrea seconded 
a motion to adjourn the Plan Commission meeting of June 3, 
2021 at 7:32 p.m. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion 
carried. (5-0-1).

 
 



  

 1

      C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 

Meeting of June 17, 2021  
 

Temporary Use  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of this Temporary Use to 
allow for 40-50 storage containers, dumpsters and surrounding fence, as well as job trailer and 
charging station associated with the remodel of the Target Store located at 7800 S. Lovers Lane 
Road, from July 12 to November 5, 2021. 
 

 

Project Name: Engelsma Construction Temporary Use for Target Store remodel 

Project Address: 7800 S Lovers Lane 

Applicant: Cory McCall. Engelsma Construction, Inc.  

Property Owner: Target Corporation 

Zoning: Civic Center  

Use of Surrounding Properties: The Shoppes at Wyndham Village to north, east and south, multi-
family residential in construction and gasolines service station to 
the west across Lovers Lane Rd.  

2025 Comprehensive Plan:  Mixed Use 

Applicant Action Requested: Approval of the Temporary Use for 40-50 storage containers, 
dumpsters and surrounding fence, as well as job trailer and 
charging station associated with the remodel of the Target Store 
located at 7800 S. Lovers Lane Road, from July 12 to November 
5, 2021. 

               

INTRODUCTION: 

On March 26, 2020, Engelsma Construction, Inc. submitted a Temporary Use application to allow for 
40-50 shipping containers be located in the parking lot and used as storage during the remodel of the 
Target Store. The applicant requested to hold this application due to the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. 
The applicant is now planning to resume the remodel project and is seeking approval of this 
Temporary Use from July 12 to November 5, 2021. 
 
The issuance of a Temporary Use permit is not required for construction trailers as temporary offices. 
However, shipping containers as storage is not listed as a Temporary Use in the Unified Development 
Ordinance (UDO) Section 15-3.0804. Plan Commission review and approval is required for any  
temporary use type not specifically listed in this Section. 
 

 

 

 

Item D.1. 



  

 2

ANALYSIS: 

City Development staff sent review comments to the applicant on April 17, 2020, memorandum. The 
storage containers and dumpsters would be surrounded by a 6-foot high temporary fence. It is noted 
that the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Section 15-3.0803(C)(2) states that fences to enclose 
outside storage shall be at least 8 feet in height but up to 10 feet. As this is a temporary fence, staff 
does not have objections to the proposed fence height.  
 
Additionally, screening will be provided along the temporary fencing. Per UDO Section 15-3.0803(F), 
open storage abutting arterial or collector shall be screened, therefore, screening is required to the west 
along S. Lovers Lane Rd. 
 
According to the applicant, Target Property management has reviewed and confirmed that the 
remaining parking will be sufficient for the store during the remodel. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

City Development Staff recommends approval of this Temporary Use to allow for 40-50 storage 
containers, dumpsters and surrounding fence, as well as job trailer and charging station associated with 
the remodel of the Target Store located at 7800 S. Lovers Lane Road, from July 12 to November 5, 
2021, subject to the conditions set forth in the attached resolution such as screening to be provided 
along S. Lovers Lane. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
             PLAN COMMISSION            [Draft 6-10-21] 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-_____ 

 
A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS 

 FOR THE APPROVAL OF A TEMPORARY USE TO ALLOW FOR THE  
PLACEMENT OF SHIPPING CONTAINERS ON THE WEST SIDE OF THE  

TARGET STORE PARKING LOT, FOR STORAGE USE DURING THE REMODEL  
OF THE TARGET STORE LOCATED AT 7800 SOUTH LOVERS LANE ROAD 

(TARGET CORPORATION (STORE T-2388 FRANKLIN), APPLICANT) 
              
 
 WHEREAS, Target Corporation (Store T-2388 Franklin) having petitioned the City 
of Franklin for the approval of a Temporary Use to allow for the placement of shipping 
containers on the west side of the Target store parking lot, for storage use during the remodel 
of the Target store located at 7800 South Lovers Lane Road, from July 12, 2021 to 
November 5, 2021; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having found that the proposed Temporary Use, 
subject to conditions, meets the standards set forth under §15-3.0804 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Target Corporation (Store T-2388 Franklin) for the 
approval of a Temporary Use for the property particularly described in the preamble to this 
Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and 
restrictions: 
 

1. The approval granted hereunder shall allow for such use from July 12, 2021 to 
November 5, 2021, and all approvals granted hereunder expiring on November 5, 
2021, for the placement of shipping containers on the west side of the Target store 
parking lot, for storage use during the remodel of the Target store. 

2. The temporary fencing must have screening along South Lovers Lane Road. 

 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2021. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2021. 
 

 
 
 



TARGET CORPORATION (STORE T-2388 FRANKLIN) – TEMPORARY USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2021 - _____ 
Page 2 

 
APPROVED: 

 
 
       _________________________________  
       Stephen R. Olson, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 
 



T h e m aps and inform ation prov ided by th e City of Frank lin’s Property Viewer are not legal instrum ents and are to be used for reference purposes only, not as a substitute for legally 
recorded m aps, surv eys, or oth er docum ents. T h e City of Frank lin assum es no liability for any dam ages or loss resulting from  th e use or m isuse of th e m aps and inform ation offered 
th rough  th is site.  T h e m aps and inform ation prov ided h ere m ay have been com piled from  v arious state, county, m unicipal, and priv ate sources, and are m aintained by their sources 
for a wide v ariety of purposes. T h erefore, th e City of Frank lin cannot guarantee th e quality, content, accuracy, com pleteness, or currency of th e inform ation transm itted by th is site, and 
prov ides such  inform ation with out expressed or im plied warranties, subject to the term s and conditions stated in th is Disclaim er and as oth erwise prov ided for by law.  Wh ile th e City of 
Frank lin m ak es ev ery attem pt to prov ide accurate, com plete, and up-to-date inform ation, it sh all not be held responsible for any discrepancies contained h erein. Each indiv idual 
accesses and uses th e inform ation h erein at th eir own risk . Use of th e Property Viewer constitutes acceptance of all term s and conditions in th is Disclaim er.

0 0.015 0.03
m i

Map Printed: 6/10/2021

Overv iew MapFranklin Public Property Viewer

9229 W. Loom is Rd.  Frank lin, WI 53132
www.frank linwi.gov

Legend includes all layers even if they
are not v isible in th e m ap.

Zoning Districts
A-1 
A-2 
B-1 
B-2 
B-3 
B-4 
B-5 
B-6 
B-7 
BP  
CC  
C-1 
FC  

FFO 
FW  
I-1 
I-I 
M-1 
M-2 
M-3 
OL-1
OL-2
P-1 
PDD 
R-1 
R-1E

R-2 
R-3 
R-3E
R-4 
R-5 
R-6 
R-7 
R-8 
RC-1
VB  
VR  

Alderm anic District
Building
City Boundary
Condo
CSM
Easem ent
Elem entary District
Env ironm ental Corridor
FEMA DFIRM Flood - Zone A
FEMA DFIRM Flood - Zone AE
FEMA - 0.2% Annual Ch ance
Parcel
Park
Pav em ent
County or State Hwy
Local Road
Road Righ t-of-Way
Sch ool District
Wetland

(C)  C i ty o f Fr ankl in , WI











rmartinez
Typewritten Text
Item D.2

rmartinez
Typewritten Text












	01 2021-0617 Plan Commission Agenda
	02 2021-0603 PC Minutes - Draft
	03 Item D.3 Target TU
	2021-06-17 PC Report Target TU - Engelsma Const
	Map_combined
	Target remodel storage TU 6-8-21 w condition 2
	06-07-21 Tempoary Use Application 

	04 Item D.2 Public Notice Formatting



